
Questions & Answers 

Request for Proposals for Development of a Multi-Fuel Service Station and Food 
Court at Washington Dulles International Airport 

RFP NO. MWAA 4-13-C002 

 

1. Will MWAA extend the due date of the proposal?   

Yes.  Please see Amendment 1 issued November 8, 2012. 

2. Will consideration be given to provide additional term of lease since construction and equipment 
expense will need to be amortized for a longer period for example and initial term of 25 years?   

The Airports Authority will consider amending the initial term of the agreement, however the length of the term 
is still under review.   

Since our proposed investment for this site is North of $5.0 million, Will the MWAA increase the lease 
term to 30 years with two 5 year options?  

Please see the answer to question # 2 above. 

3. RFP Section 6.1 Ground lease renewal is exercisable at the sole discretion of MWAA. Are there any 
criteria that MWAA typically uses in making this decision?   

MWAA typically reviews the sales of the location as well as the demand on airport for the service.  We also 
determine if there is a high demand for the site for other uses. 

4. RFP Section 6.2 When is the Ground Lease start date? 

The ground lease start date will be negotiated with the selected firm. 

5. How and when does the developer recapture the cost of the construction of the new road? 

The developer will recapture the cost of construction of the roadway over the course of the first ten years of the 
ground lease. MWAA will repay the developer the agreed-upon road construction costs over the ten years, in 
equal payments, assuming 2.5% interest.  

Any costs incurred by the developer in extending utilities to the site will be reimbursed over the same schedule. 

6. What is timing for construction of 2-lane access road? 

Construction of the road needs to be completed prior to opening of the fueling station to provide access to the 
site. 

7. Can the Navigation Road access to Rudder Road be closed through the duration of the project 
construction? 

Will Navigation Road have to be tied into the proposed Access Road? 

During construction of the proposed access road, Navigation Road may be closed through the duration of the 
project construction period. It is the intent to tie Navigation Road into the proposed Access Road. 



8. RFP Section 4.2. Example of a proposed 4 lane future access rd. Are all road improvements included 
in the scope of this proposal? If so are there any specific items MWAA would like to see (i.e. future 
impact analysis, traffic lights, road development plans)? 

Please see Reference Documents posted at http://www.mwaa.com/5243.htm  

9. Proposed Utility Extensions: 

i. What utilities are included? 

ii. Who will extend? 

iii. Will they be for the service station and food court only? 

Electrical, telecommunications, gas, water, and sanitary sewer are to be extended to the leasehold by the 
Offeror.  These utilities are anticipated to have the ability to serve the parcel of property west and adjacent to 
the leasehold as well as the leasehold.   Any costs incurred by the developer in extending utilities to the site 
will be repaid by MWAA over the same schedule as the roadway. 

10. What if any site work, landscaping, etc. is the proposer responsible for outside the leasehold area? 

Please see Reference Documents posted at http://www.mwaa.com/5243.htm  

11. Is the MWAA doing any work within the leasehold area, e.g. parking area pavement removal? 

MWAA does not plan to do any work within the leasehold area prior to award of the RFP. 

12. Is information available that would indicate the depth/inverts of the existing sanitary sewer to which 
we will be connecting? 

According to record information, the invert of the manhole proposed for the sanitary sewer connection is 
271.6’.  The successful offeror shall verify all utility information for all detailed design documents. 

13. Please clarify that the proposer should be expected to extend gas, water, electric, sewer, and 
communications lines by roughly 600 feet, as well as construct the proposed two lane access road and 
will be reimbursed for this in which way? Or the airport can bring power and utilities to the parameter 
of the property at no cost to the proposer. 

The proposer will be expected to extend gas, water, electric, sanitary sewer, and communication lines by 
approximately 600 feet as well as construct the proposed access roadway in accordance with the exhibits 
provided in the addendum.  MWAA does not plan to extend power or any other utility to the perimeter of the 
leasehold. 

14. Is there a PDF of the proposed utilities map that was handed out at last week’s pre-proposal 
meeting? 

Please see Reference Documents posted at http://www.mwaa.com/5243.htm  

15. What is the current zoning for the property under consideration and will any change or variance be 
required for the intended use proposed? 

The property is designated as non-aviation commercial on the Airport Land Use Plan.  No change or variance 
will be required for the intended use. 



16. Will the MWAA provide a more detailed survey plan of the pad site delineating dimensions, utility 
locations and elevations? Is an electronic version available? 

MWAA does not have detailed survey plans of the proposed site.  Some information on utilities is available but 
it is not complete.  Additional survey of the site will be required by the Offeror for detailed design documents. 

17. To what degree is the MWAA flexible as to the development site dimensions? 

Is it conceivable that the MWAA site dimensions can be modified to create a squarer pad site in the 
order of 300 foot x 340 foot or similar dimensions? 

It is conceivable that the site could be adapted to a squarer site plan of 300 feet x 340 feet. Offerors should not 
extend the western boundary of the site beyond the existing curb cut.  

Offerors should propose a realistic, efficient site plan which follows market best practices and does not 
negatively impact the future development of the surrounding area. 

18. Questions regarding site map on Page 5 of RFP 

a.  Clarify site size/dimensions. In Section 1.1 on Page 2 of RFP refers to site as approximately 2.5 
acres. From dimensions on Page 5 it appears to be just slightly over 2 acres. 

The example leasehold in the site plan is dimensioned as 400’ x 220’. MWAA will consider alternative 
site dimensions that best suit proposers’ needs, as discussed above. 

b.  Does the proposer have any flexibility to adjust the site size? If so, describe extent. 

See answer above. 

c.  Confirm landscape buffers on both streets are outside leasehold area. 

Both landscape buffers on the north and east side of the leasehold area are outside of the leasehold 
area.  Please refer to the Reference Documents posted at http://www.mwaa.com/5243.htm for 
landscape requirements in these areas. 

d.  What are landscape buffer requirements on interior property lines? 

Please refer to the Reference Documents posted at http://www.mwaa.com/5243.htm for landscape 
requirement on the eastern side of the leasehold. 

19. What is plans/timing for area surrounding site? 

No specific plans have been identified for the area surrounding the site.  The entire parking lot and field area to 
the south is designated as non-aviation commercial use and could be developed for commercial uses in the 
future. 

20. Does MWAA have any preference for site orientation or layout? 

Offerors should propose an efficient site orientation and layout within the identified site area that matches 
current industry best practices, and does not adversely impact development of the surrounding area. 

21. Is topographic data available for the existing site conditions? 

Topographic data is available for the existing site conditions and is provided in the Reference Documents 
posted at http://www.mwaa.com/5243.htm  



22. With regard to the subject site; 

-Copies of environmental/hazmat reports in Airport’s possession that include information 
salient to the subject site 

MWAA does not have any environmental/hazardous material reports for conditions within or near to the 
project site.  No known environmental/hazardous materials are known to be present within or near the 
project site. 

-Portions of Airport planning documents that include information salient to the mid to long term 
land use and development of land within 1 mile of the subject site. 

The Airport Layout Plan and Airport Land Use Plan have been included in the Reference Documents 
posted at http://www.mwaa.com/5243.htm showing present and future development on the entirety of 
the airport property as well as intended land uses. 

-A listing of any agreements to which the Airport is a party pertaining to fueling agreements for 
vehicles licensed to operate on public roads in the Commonwealth of Virginia or on Airport 
property.   

MWAA does not believe it is party to any such agreements. 

-Any statistical information held by the Airport relating to traffic counts within 1-mile of the 
subject site. 

Traffic turning movement data for the a.m. (7:00 a.m. – 9:00 a.m.), mid-day (11:00 a.m. – 1:00 p.m.) 
and p.m. (4:00 p.m. – 6:00 p.m.) peak periods on September 25, 2012 were collected at the following 
locations: 

• Rudder Road and Ariane Way (Entrance to Economy Parking) intersection,  

• Exxon Station driveway on Rudder Road 

• Rudder Road and Autopilot Drive Intersection 

These traffic counts have been included in the Reference Documents posted at 
http://www.mwaa.com/5243.htm 

-Can the approximately 2.5 acre site be shifted within the Autopilot/Navigation/Rudder Road 
perimeter or is northeast corner location critical?   

The northeastern corner location should be maintained.  

23. Are copies of the existing agreement with Exxon as well as sales information available to be 
viewed?   

Yes.  The existing agreement has been posted at http://www.mwaa.com/5243.htm. The gross sales data (Fuel 
& other items) from 2007 to 2011 are below: 

2007 $20,658,536 

2008 $23,595,186 

2009 $19,561,379 

2010 $23,423,419 

2011 $26,267,646 

 



24. What are the current economics of the Exxon station across the street from the proposed site? 
Rent, lease details, revenues, gallons sold, etc? After lease expiration what will happen?   

Please see the answer to question above; the agreement with Exxon is posted at 
http://www.mwaa.com/5243.htm.  After the lease expiration, it is the intention of the Airports Authority to 
maintain that location as a fueling station.  The lease opportunity will be competitively solicited. 

25. Will there be anything in the lease that stipulates that the rent/royalty schedule will be the same as 
the new lease that is forthcoming at the Exxon location (Exxon’s lease expires in 2016)? 

No decision has been made regarding the terms of the Exxon lease upon expiration in 2016. 

26. Are there any exclusives or restrictions on fuel, c-store, QSR brands from the existing Exxon and 
QSR?   

No, there are no exclusives or restrictions on the existing fueling operation. 

27. Please provide the following information with regard to the existing service station to the north of 
the subject site;  

-The land lease 

-Past 3 years of all operational, reporting, statistical (traffic counts) and related information 
provided by the current operator and land lessor to MWAA or IAD staff/management (the 
“Airport”) and any related current budgets or forecasts held by the Airport. 

Please see the Reference Documents posted at http://www.mwaa.com/5243.htm for information regarding 
traffic counts. 

28. Can the percentage rent for fuel sales be expressed in cents per gallon instead of a percentage 
rate? This would be consistent the existing contract with the station now at the airport and is typical 
for the fuel industry.  

Yes. Please see Amendment 2, revised Attachment 1, regarding the percentage rent for fuel and an updated 
Financial Offer form.  

29. Are there any minimum volume, sales or margin thresholds? 

No minimum volume, sales or margin thresholds are contemplated at this time.  

30. While maintaining the MAG, due to gas price volatility, can MWAA change the gas royalties to a per 
gallon fee instead of a revenue percentage? It’s almost impossible to do it based on percentage.   

Please see Amendment 2 for an updated Attachment 1. 

31. Can royalties start in year 2 or 3 in order to give the brand new business time to ramp up and build 
revenues?   

No. The payment of rents and fees will begin with the effective date of the contract/lease. 

32. Is the MWAA expecting both a ground lease rent payment in addition to the suggested 
royalties/payments?   

Yes – a ground rent payment of $90 per acre per year is expected. Please see Amendment 2, which includes 
an updated Financial Offer form. 



33. What food brands and franchises does MWAA desire to be represented?   

The offeror is expected to propose the food brands to be considered and evaluated by MWAA. 

34. Who is designated in MWAA to receive communications regarding the RFP and what is their 
contact information?   

Richard Myrah, Acting Manager of Procurement.  Richard.Myrah@mwaa.com 

35. Can you confirm the address where the proposal bid can be hand delivered to and what hours it 
would be accepted?   

Please refer to page 16 of the RFP document. 

36. Is MWAA available for additional on site or in person meeting if we have additional requirement for 
clarification or questions?    

No additional on site or in person meeting are planned regarding this RFP.  The offeror is free to visit the site 
since it is located on a public road. 

37. What off-site signage is anticipated/allowed? 

Offerors should propose an on-and-off site signage program that adequately advertises the project and 
conforms to the guidelines presented in the MWAA Design Manual.  

38. RFP Section 5.2. Numerous food options. Could MWAA provide any more detail on the quantity or 
variety of food options they would like to see in a proposal?   

The offeror is required to propose this information for evaluation by MWAA. 

39. RFP Section 5.2 Sustainable, and appealing design. Will MWAA give preference to a LEED certified 
building? Is there a targeted LEED certification level?   

MWAA will not give a preference to a LEED certified building.  The building shall comply with the requirements 
of the Authority Design Manual. 

40. Is there any construction deadline or target opening date?   

MWAA’s target opening date for the project is as soon as possible. Construction schedules will be negotiated 
with the selected Offeror. 

41. RFP Section 6.3 Developer shall incur all risk of development, construction, operation and 
maintenance. Are there any exclusions to this: Environmental, Site Accessibility, Hidden Conditions, 
etc? 

The selected developer is expected to perform in a standard at-risk capacity. No environmental or hidden 
conditions are known or anticipated on the project site.  Site accessibility is further defined in the amendment 
with regards to details on the proposed access roadway as well as requirements for maintenance of traffic on 
existing roadways near and adjacent to the leasehold.  

42. Are there any restrictions or limitations for alternative uses of the proposed space outside of 
convenience and food items?  

MWAA’s vision for the site is articulated in the RFP.  



43. Will our site be included as a stop in the MWAA transportation (Bus) system? If so what 
requirements if any (space, accessibility, development) should we include in our proposal?  

It is not contemplated at this time that the site will be included as an MWAA bus stop. 

44. Will the MWAA provide a list of preferred restaurant franchise names or food types or restaurant 
categories as guidance?  If so, at what point does the MWAA anticipate releasing these preferences to 
Offerors?   

No, the offeror is expected to propose this information for evaluation by MWAA. 

45. Can the MWAA provide more detailed information and guidance as to its Project Vision, Goals and 
Requirements so that we can more closely meet the MWAAs expectations?   

MWAA’s project vision, goals and requirements are outlined in detail in the RFP.  

46. Which project(s) has the MWAA modeled the Dulles Airport Project from and which elements of this 
or these projects are most appealing to the MWAA?  

MWAA has not specifically modeled this project on any other existing project. 

47. Is there a requirement for LDBE Equity? If not are there any preference points associated with 
LDBE Equity?  

No.  

48. How does the authority wish to manage deferred maintenance items?  

The ground lease signed with the successful Offeror will include provisions regarding reinvestment in the 
development in order to ensure that the project is maintained to a Class A standard throughout the term of the 
lease. 


